Overview of the City of Charleston
Public Burial Ground (1794-1807)

106 Coming Street & Portion of 99 St. Philip Street
Site of Proposed College of Charleston Student Housing

This narrative summarizes the historical documentation gathered to date regarding the
former public burial ground at 106 Coming Street. All sources are cited and exhibits are
provided below. This document will be updated as additional research is compiled.

“Potters’ Fields” and the Purpose of Public Cemeteries

In a 2021 Charleston Time Machine podcast episode, Dr. Nic Butler revealed the locations
and histories of the City of Charleston’s “forgotten” public cemeteries that have been
obscured by redevelopment. These burial sites are among the largest, oldest, and

most densely populated in the city.! Those interred in these so-called “potters’ fields”
were people who could not afford or access other cemeteries, including poor adults,
children, and enslaved people. The so-called “Strangers and Negroe Burying Ground,”
encompassing 106 Coming Street and surrounding parcels, was the first public burial
ground authorized by the City of Charleston after its incorporation in 1783.

Timeline: “Strangers and Negroe Burying Ground”

* In February 1792, the City purchased “a piece of land beyond the bounds of the city,
for a burying place for strangers and negroes, lying within Coming Vanderhorst and
Boundary streets” (Figure 9).

e Burials commenced in 1794 (Figure 8). The location of this cemetery is confirmed in
plats from 1798 and 1799 and consists of approximately 3.4 acres (Figures 4-6).

* From its operation from 1794-1807, the “Strangers and Negro Burying Ground” was the
only public burial ground in the City of Charleston.

* In 1800, the City’s Committee on Contracts authorized construction of a 7-foot wooden
fence around the burial ground (Figure 10).

* In July 1801, City Council passed an ordinance creating greater oversight of the public
cemetery, establishing a Superintendent overseer, segregating the burial ground
by race, creating regulations on burial size, and establishing fees and processes for
registering burials (Figure 11).

e Burials in this public cemetery were discontinued by an act of City Council in 1807, and
a new public burial ground established further northwest on the block now bounded
by Ashley, Bee, President, and Doughty streets, much of which is part of the MUSC
campus (Figure 15).

Historical records document that those interred at “Strangers and Negroe Burying
Ground” during this time included enslaved Africans, free people of color, “strangers”

or travelers, paupers, people who died at the City’s notorious Work House, white adults
from the City’s Poor House, and white children who died at the Charleston Orphan House
(Figure 8).

' Butler, Nic, Charleston Time Machine, “The Forgotten Dead: Charleston’s Public Cemeteries,” 1672-1794 (April 30, 2021),
ccpl.org/charleston-time-machine/forgotten-dead-charlestons-public-cemeteries-1794-2021.
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Enslaved Africans are documented to have been buried in this public burial ground,
including some who died during the voyage to Charleston, or upon arrival (Figure 13). The
final years of the trans-Atlantic slave trade led to a massive influx of captive Africans to
the port of Charleston.? The practice of importing enslaved Africans to the United States
was outlawed nationwide on January 1, 1808, pursuant to a compromise incorporated

in the U.S. Constitution that allowed the slave trade to continue for 20 years after
ratification.?

The City of Charleston collected fees for use and visitation of this public cemetery. Bodies
received from the Orphan House, Poor House, or Marine Hospital were to be interred free
of charge, but all other parties were required to pay a fee to the Superintendent for the
right to use the public cemetery (Figure 11). In 1802, the cost for burying a white person
was $1, while the cost to bury a person of color, whether enslaved or free, was 75 cents.
Visitors were charged 6.25 cents (Figure 12).

While there are no known records of those buried at the site, Butler estimates that the
available land and burial plot sizes designated in the 1801 ordinance would result in
approximately 4,600 persons laid to rest on this site.* However, this number could be
higher if multiple bodies were buried in single plots.

A Burial Ground with National Significance

Many similarities can be drawn between Charleston’s Public Burial Ground and New York
City’s African Burial Ground, a federally-designated National Historic Landmark, and
National Monument with up to an estimated 15,000, freed and enslaved men, women,

and children of African descent buried on a 6.6-acre parcel from the middle 1630s to
1795.> While this cemetery is believed to have been in operation for almost a century,
Charleston’s Public Burial Ground only operated at this location for 13 years between 1794
and 1807, yet thousands are believed to be interred here.

Due to loss of historical records and centuries of redevelopment, the full history of this
burial ground has been largely unknown. Research is ongoing and there is much left

to learn about those interred at 106 Coming Street. Based on what historical research

has revealed to date, this site’s significance should be evaluated for federal designation,
similar to the determination made for the African Burial Ground in New York City, given its
potential to add to our nation’s collective understanding of this era in our history.

2 Butler, Nic, Charleston Time Machine, “The Story of Gadsden’s Wharf” (Feb. 2, 2018), ccpl.org/charleston-time-machine/story-gadsdens-wharf; Butler, Nic,
Charleston Time Machine, “The End of the Trans-Atlantic Slave Trade” (Jan. 26, 2018), ccpl.org/charleston-time-machine/end-trans-atlantic-slave-trade.

3 Butler, Nic, Charleston Time Machine, “The End of the Trans-Atlantic Slave Trade” (Jan. 26, 2018); “The Story of Gadsden’s Wharf” (Feb. 2, 2018).; U.S.
Constitution, Article 1, Section 9, Clause 1.
4 Butler, Nic, Charleston Time Machine, “The Forgotten Dead: Charleston’s Public Cemeteries,” 1672-1794 (April 30, 2021).

5“The African Burial Ground.” U.S. General Services Administration, gsa.gov/about-us/gsa-regions/region-2-northeast-and-caribbean/about-region-2/afri-
can-burial-ground.
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Figure 1.

106 Coming Street and a portion of 99 St. Philip Street
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Figure 2.

YWCA Building, 1960s
Courtesy of the Avery Research Center for African American

History and Culture and Lowcountry Digital Library
This mid-century modern building was constructed on top of a public burial ground. The

building was approved for demolition by the BAR-Large in 2025. The site is proposed to
be redeveloped as student housing by the College of Charleston.
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THE SILENCE OF THE DEAD: GIVING CHARLESTON CEMETERIES A VOICE

Strangers & Negroe Burying Ground
Block bounded by Vanderhorst, Coming, Calhoun and Pitt streets

TMS: 4601603002, 4601603004, 4601603005, 4601603006, 4601603007, 4601603008, 4601603009, 4601603017, 4601603018,
4601603024, 4601603025, 4601603026, 4601603027, 4601603028, 4601603125, 4601603126, 4601603145, 4601603146,
4601603148, 4601603149, 4601603151, 4601603155, 4601603158, 4601603160, 4601603162, 4601603166, 4601603168,
4601603169, 4601603173, 4601603178, 4601603180, 4601603181, 4601603183, 4601603187, 4601603188, 4601603189,
4601603190, 4601603191, 4601603195, 4601603202, 4601603203

UTM (Zone 17, NAD 27): E599330 N3627820

An article in the August 24, 1799 Charleston City Gazette reported that this burial ground was acquired by the City from John Poaug
in February 1792 “for a burying place for strangers and negroes, lying within Coming, Vanderhorst and Boundary Streets and the
land of Mr. Joseph Manigault . . ..” Several 1798 plats show the burial grounds extending eastward to St. Philips Street, while the
1799 Purcell survey shows the boundaries recounted by the news article. Additional research is necessary to verify the legal
boundaries (the tax map numbers listed above reflect the entire block). By 1807 the Charleston City Council announced that all
burials would cease in this burial ground by August 1808 and “all interments will take place at the Burial Ground in
Cannonsborough.”

“The old Vardell house stood near the corner of Vanderhorst and Coming streets and was built for himself by my grandfather
Vardell, being the first house erected on the square now bounded by Vanderhorst, St. Philip’s, Coming and Boundary (Calhoun)
streets. . . . The house was built on the site of the old city Potter’s field and the bones of many Bristish soldiers were buried there. |
remember that one of my childish amusements was to dig for these bones .. .."”

“The Committee on City Lands Submit the Following Report, on the Present State of the Lands,” City Gazette and Daily Advertiser,
August 24, 1799, pg. 2.

“Council Chamber, July 28, 1807,” City Gazette and Daily Advertiser, August 1, 1807, pg. 3.

The State (Columbia, SC), September 3, 1922, pg. 11

Figure 3.

“Strangers and Negroe Burying Ground,” pg. 220
Courtesy of Chicora Foundation’s “Silence of the Dead,” 2010.
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McCrady 517 (1798)

Charleston City Plat Book CP 2, #12
(1799); see also McCrady 7942, 215,
490, and 3998

Figure 4.

“Strangers and Negroe Burying Ground,” pg. 221
Courtesy of Chicora Foundation’s “Silence of the Dead,” 2010.
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Figure 5.

1798 McCrady Plat 517
Courtesy of Charleston County
Public Library

This historic plat shows the cemetery,
called out as “Strangers & Negroe
Burying Ground,” on the entire block
bounded by St. Philip Street, Boundary
Street (Calhoun), Coming Street, and
Vanderhorst Street. However, research
reveals that this was likely a surveyor
error, and that only the left half of the
block was used as the burial ground.
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Figure 6.

1799 Charleston City Plat Book, CP 2, #12
See also McCrady 7942, 215, 490, and 3998
Courtesy of Chicora Foundation’s “Silence of the Dead,” 2010.

This plat from 1799 shows a portion of this block called out as “Burial Ground,” with the
eastern half of the lot labeled as “Lots of Joseph Manigault, Esq.” This survey is likely the
most accurate depiction of the burial ground’s dimensions.
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Figure 7.

2025 Tax Parcel Map
Charleston County Tax Assessor’s Office

This parcel map shows the present-day block with an approximate outline of the
documented historic burial ground boundaries. Many buildings have been constructed
upon this block in the footprint of the cemetery, including the AT&T building (owned by
the College of Charleston), and historic houses on the northwest corner of the block.
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Figure 8.

August 29, 1794
The City Gazette and Daily Advertiser

City Council adopted a resolution to create a public burial ground for “strangers, those
who may die in the Poor House, hospitals, and negroes” on the land that was purchased in
1792 by the City of Charleston from John Poaug.
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Figure 9.

August 24, 1799
City Gazette and Daily Advertiser

This article indicates that the City of Charleston purchased the parcel of land that would
become the public burial ground for “strangers and negroes” in February 1792.

n



Overview of the City of Charleston Public Burial Ground (1794-1807)

Figure 10.

October 15, 1800
City Gazette and Daily Advertiser

The public burial ground was referred to in many different ways, including “Strangers
Burial Ground.” This article describes a proposed wooden (pine and cedar) fence that was

ultimately built around the burial ground.
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Figure 11.

July 2, 1801
Ordinances of the City Council of Charleston, pg 211-214

Continued on next page.
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Figure 11 (continued).

July 2, 1801
Ordinances of the City Council of Charleston, pg 211-214

Continued on next page.
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Figure 11 (continued).

July 2, 1801
Ordinances of the City Council of Charleston, pg 211-214

Continued on next page.
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Figure 11 (continued).

July 2, 1801
Ordinances of the City Council of Charleston, pg 211-214

This ordinance from 1801 created greater oversight of the public cemetery, establishing
a Superintendent overseer, segregating the burial ground by race, regulating how long,
wide, and deep burials should be, and determining fees and processes for registering
burials. Bodies received from the city Orphan House, Poor House, or Marine Hospital
were to be interred free of charge, but all other parties were required to pay a fee to the

superintendent for the right to use the public cemetery. These fees were broken down by

race and stature (how tall a person was).

16



Overview of the City of Charleston Public Burial Ground (1794-1807)

Figure 12.

August 18, 1802 (Amendment to July 2, 1801 Ordinance)
Ordinances of the City Council of Charleston, pg 242-243

This amendment

to the earlier July

2, 1801, ordinance
established slightly
less “exorbitant”
fees for interment
and visitation to the
public burial ground.
It also provided that
the superintendent
would be subject

to an annual review
and re-election every
October.

$1 was charged for
digging a grave for
a white person. 75
cents were charged
for digging a grave
for a person of color,
whether enslaved or
free.

A wooden memorial
marker placed at the
burial site cost 25
cents. Materials other
than wood cost $1.

Visitors were charged
6.25 cents.
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Figure 13.

February 2, 1805
City Gazette and Daily Advertiser

This article points to the practice of throwing overboard the bodies of Africans who
were kidnapped and enslaved, but did not survive the journey to North America. This
practice was made illegal within the Charleston city limits due to public health concerns,
and “decent” burials for enslaved Africans were required to take place in the City’s public
burial ground, which at that time, was located on the 106 Coming Street block.
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Figure 14.
April 11, 1807
Charleston Courier

This Letter to the Editor indicates the continued development of this area of Charleston,
near Boundary Street and St. Philip Street, during this period. At the time, parcels located
to the east of the cemetery on this block were privately owned.
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Figure 15.

August 1, 1807
City Gazette and Daily Advertiser

In July 1807, an announcement was made that burials in the “Burial Ground in Boundary
Street” would be discontinued on August 1, 1807, and interments would now be made
in the “Burial Ground in Cannonsborough,” which was located on the block bounded

by Thomas [now Ashley], Bee, President, and Doughty streets, from August 1807 until
November 1841. This block has been developed by the Medical University of South
Carolina (MUSCQC).
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Figure 16.

April 27,1808

Charleston Courier

A schedule of fees similar to those described at the Coming Street public burial ground
was published in the newspaper following its closure pertaining to burials that were taking

place at the newly opened public burial ground on the present-day MUSC property on the
block bounded by Ashley, Bee, President, and Doughty streets.
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were butilt. Judge Walsh lived
with his mother’s family. the
Vardells, following the death
of his father. The judge writes
that the ‘old Vardell house
stood near the corner of
Vanderhorst and Coming
streets, and was buillf by
Grandfather Vardell, being the
first house erected on the
fquare now bounded by
Vanderhorst, -8t. Philip, Com-
ing and Boundary {(Calboun)
streefs.”

His account felis us that
the area had been the sife

of a potier's fieid where the
bones of many British sodiers
were found. He wriites that
on one occasion he dug #p
in his grandfather’s yard the
skuil and heimet of a British
dragoon.

Figure 17.
December 9, 1968

The News and Courier

Judge Joseph Travis Walsh, whose “Grandfather Vardell”
built one of the historic houses constructed on the
northwest corner of the block, where the public burial
ground was located, near the corner of Coming and
Vanderhorst, recounted uncovering skeletal remains and
the helmet of a “British dragoon” from the Revolutionary
War. While the 1770s predated the City’s ownership and
operation of this block as a public burial ground, it is
possible that burials took place on this land before it was
established as an official cemetery. More research would be
needed to investigate this claim.
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